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I opted for an increasingly accepted transliteration, the closest to Slavic languages
that use both the Latin and Cyrillic alphabet. To avoid ambiguity, however, I made
an exception for well-known names that have an established spelling in English
such as Malevich rather than Malevi¢ or Khrushchev rather than Hruscév. All

quotes in the text are translated by the author, unless otherwise specified.



The Evolution of Soviet Architectural Culture
in the First Decade of Stalin’s Perestroika’

Viktor Sklovskij, the leading Russian linguist of the OPOJAZ? (also known
as the School of the Formal Method), wrote in 1923 that Tatlin's Tower was a
monument made out of "steel, glass, and Revolution." It could be said that this
short sentence expressed the drama of the Soviet architectural discourse of the
1920-30's. The statement points to the persistent tension between, on the one hand,
a "Revolution" accepted only in so far as it gained sufficient "distance" from itself
and became, in the way of glass and steel, a mere linguistic material; and on the
other hand, a "Revolution" where the work of the artist was to resemble a type of
laboratory research conducted by "workers responding to a social demand."

Accordingly, the new Soviet architecture oscillated since its inception
between a creation that tended to distance itself from "everyday life" (such as
Kazimir Malevich's Suprematist experiments) and a production that tended to
establish a positive dialogue with it (as was the work of Moisej Ginzburg, Vladimir
Tatlin or the brothers Vesnin, Leonid, Viktor and Aleksandr). The fatal
compromise reached between the two conceptions — resulting eventually in the
eradication of both — was contained in the belief that, as Manfredo Tafuri claimed,
“the analysis of the morphological development of language pertained to the

science of the structure of signs, while the decision about their function was to be

! The term perestroika, or reconstruction, was first introduced by Stalin in reference to the
radical reforms of the Soviet system that he undertook after 1927 supplanting Lenin's NEP. The
term, interchangeable euphemistically with "Cultural Revolution," was used ubiquitously in all
the Soviet media, including the architectural press. Based on the novel idea of "socialism in one
country," this reconstruction meant in essence the introduction of a centrally planned economy
guided by five-year plans, forced collectivization of agriculture, urbanization, the high priority
given to the development of heavy industries, and the waves of purges and terror disciplining
Party membership as well as the rest of Soviet society.

2 OPOJAZ: Obscestvo Poeti¢eskogo Jazika (The Society of the Poetic Language) founded before
the Revolution.



left to the Party.” The death-sentence to the debate was emblematically
pronounced, with Frank Lloyd Wright in attendance, at the delirious First Congress
of the Union of Soviet Architects in 1937, in the shadow of the "Great Stalin."

Yet, in the course of these two decades, the Soviet Union was not just a
place where young protagonists of modern architecture carried on, with much
intelligence and enthusiasm, a parochial, peripheral debate on the "New
Architecture." In many ways the Soviet Union was the mirror in which the
unfolding of the entire Modern Movement was reflected.® Theorized and tested by
the critical work of the Formalists, the Soviet avant-garde enjoyed, until the early
1930s, a unique situation in Europe.

What appeared as decisive in broader European terms was the unrestrained
willingness of the Soviets to endorse the entire doctrinal package developed by the
Modern Movement in the course of the 1920's, while making unprecedented, and
far more diverse inroads into avant-garde trends that included the “Rationalism” of
Nikolaj Ladovskij, advocating a form of Gestalt psychology that explained the role
architectural space could have in revolutionizing the mentality of its users; the
Constructivism of Moisej Ginzburg who was, along with the brothers Vesnin, the
closest to the Western Modern Movement, Le Corbusier in particular; Kazimir

Malevi¢ with his trans-rational “Suprematist” experiments visualizing what he

3 The first generation of leading protagonists of the Soviet avant-garde included in architecture
Aleksej Gan (1893-1942) the inventor in 1922, of Constructivism along with Varvara Stepanova
(1894-1958), her husband Aleksandr Rodc¢enko (1891-1956) and Vladimir Tatlin (1885-1953),
all members of the Inhuk (Institut Hudozestvennoj Kultury — Institute for the Artistic Culture)
that evolved into Productivism (application of art to industrial production). Gan was the author
of the movement’s manifesto Konstruktivizm (Moscow: Tver’), 1922; the Rationalists Vladimir
Krinskij (1890-1971) and Nikolaj Ladovskij (1881-1941), founders of the architectural group
ASNOVA (Associacija Novyh Arhitektorov: Association of New Architects); Moisej Ginzburg
(1892-1946) founder in 1926 of the group OSA (Obscestvo Sovremenyh Arhitektorov -- Society
of Contemporary Architects), a splinter group from ASNOVA; Nikolaj Kolli (1892-1946), the
only Soviet member of the CIAM; Kazimir Malevi¢ (1878-1935), the inventor of Suprematism;
El Lissitzky (1890-1941) and Nikolaj Suetin (1897-1954); Konstantin Mel’nikov (1890-1974);
and I1’ja Golosov (1883-1945).




called the Zaum, that is, the realm dwelling behind what is graspable by reason, a
trend El Lissitzky, the inventor of the famous PROUNSs, continued into the post-
Revolutionary era with his “horizontal Skyscrapers,” while he exhibited in
Germany in 1922 and 1929, and lectured at the Bauhaus, to finally create in the
1930s the graphic presentation of USSR Builds, featuring boldly innovative photo-
montages, and Nikolaj Suetin with his witty Suprematist ceramics; and finally the
circle of ‘independents’ such as the expressionist Konstantin Mel nikov who
dazzled Paris and the world with his radically innovative “explosive” forms of his
Soviet Pavilion at the 1925 “Art-Deco” exhibition, while I1’ja Golosov translated
17" century Classicist typology into radically modern abstract forms.

Fully aware of the force of the architectural movement lasting well into the
mid 1930s, the American Albert Kahn opened his private office in Moscow, where
the Swiss Hannes Meyer established himself as the senior technical consultant after
he quit the directorship of the Bauhaus. Towards the end of the 1920s, Mart Stam
joined Ladovskij’s group ASNOVA (Association for the New Architecture), while
Le Corbusier inaugurated in 1934 his Centrosojuz (Central Trade Union
administration) in the heart of Moscow; the work of Russian Formalists and
Constructivists was exhibited throughout Europe; Mendelssohn was entrusted the
design of sawing mills in Moscow; Bruno Taut lectured in Leningrad; Max Taut
and Peter Behrens took part in the competition for the Centrosojuz (won by Le
Corbusier) while Fred Forbat was asked to design apartment buildings for foreign
technicians. This cooperation culminated in the leading role given in the 1930s to

Ernst May and some protagonists of the Frankfurt and Brussels CIAM* (such as

4 The CIAM (Congrés Internationaux d’Architecture Moderne), founded in 1928 at la Sarraz,
Switzerland, was the main institution of the so-called “Modern Movement,” and met regularly
through the 1930s until its virtual dissolution in 1956 in Dubrovnik, Yugoslavia.




Eugen Kaufman, Hans Schmidt and Mart Stam) in developing Soviet urbanization
plans.

Unlike in art, where an avant-garde approach had started early in the century
with Kandinsky’s invention of abstraction around 1910, evolving further through
other autochthonous movements such as Cubo-Futurism and Suprematism, until
the end of the Civil War modern architecture never went beyond pale reflections of
fashionable currents such Art Nouveau and the Jugendstil, if exception is made for
Tatlin’s constructivist interventions in the Moscow Kafe Pitoresk in 1917. The
Soviet architectural avant-garde proper began, in complete independence from
European models at the time of total isolation of the country, with the Third Prize
the brother Vesnins won in the 1921 competition for the “Palace of Labor,” as a
literal “deconstruction” of classical forms. The saga of the Palace was extended,
ten years later, into a revised program calling for a “Palace of the Soviets” instead
through gradual transformations that reflected both the history of the demise of the
architectural avant-garde and its inner resilience in the face of adversity.

The gradual marginalization of the avant-garde after 1930 in architecture
was not, contrary to entrenched believes, achieved by the dictate of a Party decree
at the turn of the decade. No “official” style was ever imposed, and efforts by the
ruling party to put under control the architectural discourse sparked intense debates
among the architects. Moreover, public resistance to abandon modern architecture
as conceived by the avant-garde in the 1920s was felt as late as 1937. This was the
harshest year of the Terror, when Aleksandr Vesnin was provoked into defending
Constructivism at the first congress of the monolithic Stalinist All- Union of Soviet

Architects founded in 1933 to replace the multiple modernist architectural groups.’

> RGALI (Rossijskij Gosudarstvenij Arhiv Literaturi i Iskustv) archives, Moscow. All-Union
Association of Architects, Congress papers. Also partially reported by a US delegate to the
Moscow Congress, the New York architect Simon Breines, winner of a prize for the Palace of




The repeated postponement of that Congress (initially scheduled for 1934 in the
wake of the writers’ own assembly) was caused by the difficulties the Communist
core of the Union experienced in controlling the decision making process within
the Union. Actually, this was the reason why the Soviets asked the CIAM to
postpone their Moscow meeting scheduled for 1933, contrary to the enduring myth
according to which the CIAM cancelled the meeting in protest against the outcome
of the Palace of Soviets competition to be revisited in this paper. The sustained
desire of the Politburo for such a Congress to be held in Moscow in the following
years, while being dismissive of Modernism at home, corroborates the complex
nature of the architectural discourse started by the “Cultural Revolution.”®

The difficulty in agreeing what “socialist realism” ought to mean in
architecture was compounded by the divergences in stylistic preferences among
members of the Party’s top leadership. The unintended result of the conundrum
was a lingering architectural diversity that allowed even a degree of official
tolerance for Constructivist architecture persisting through the end of the 1930s.
Two most notable examples of such diversity in design strategies, resulting in
important modernist achievements, were the Moscow Palace of Culture by the
brothers Vesnin, inaugurated in 1937, and the now all but forgotten 1938
Sanatorium by Moisej Ginzburg, its signature modernism hidden in the forbidding

mountain range of the Northern Caucasus.’

Soviets, in “’First Congress of Soviet Architects”, Architectural Record, October 1937, pp. 63-
65. Stalin faced a serious resistance to his new policies at the 16™ Congress in 1930 and did not
achieve full control over system before the 1934 17" Party Congress, “the Congress of the
victors,” as he called it.

® The fact that the Party operated in strict secrecy complicated the maneuvering. RGALI, All-
Union of Soviet Architects. First Congress, 1937: The Party cell papers.

7 The sanatorium I visited in January 2005, bears to this day the name of Stalin’s Politburo
member Sergo Ordzonikidze.



Fig. 1 The palace of Culture by the Brothers Vesnin. Cover page Stroitel’stvo Moskvy
(Photo Udovicki)

Fig. 2 General view of the East Wing of the “OrdZzonikidze” Sanatorium in Kislovodsk,
Caucasus, by M. Ginzburg, with Monumental Stairs by I. Leonidov in 1938. (Photo MuAr)



The present article is a contribution to substantially complement and modify
the views expressed, among others, in the only, albeit important pioneering book
available on the issue published in 1994 ®. It is based on new material from the
Soviet Government archives, the archives of the Moscow Party organization, the
Soviet Communist Party’s Central Committee and Politburo, the Kaganovic¢
papers, documents held by the Moscow Architectural Museum, the Lenin Library,
and the Russian archives for the arts and literature. The essay examines some of
the significant aspects of Modernism’s survival under Stalin, in concept and in
realized buildings, over the decade preceding the Second World War. It includes a
discussion of the dramatic events that surrounded the 1928 competition for the
Lenin Library, when the Modernists appealed to the Party to intervene in the
defense of modern architecture. The Party’s response was to create an architectural
organization, the VOPRA that, far from being the expression of a spontaneous
movement as has been regarded thus far, was secretly sponsored and instructed by
the Party’s leadership, and, more than endorsing a principled position, was aimed
at monopolizing architectural debate. A reassessment of the last version of the
Palace of the Soviets, conventionally known as a hyper-Stalinist project with its
oppressive monumentality, furnishes a surprising illustration of the essay’s larger
point regarding the surviving spirit of both Modernity (related to industrialization)
and Modernism (related to avant-garde movements) in the Soviet Union under
Joseph Visarionovi¢ Stalin.

Considering this survival, the essay highlights the Palace of Culture (1930-
1937) by the brothers Vesnin, a neglected masterpiece that paralleled Alvar Aalto’s
search for a new modernist direction during the same decade, notably at the 1939

New York’s Fair Finnish pavilion. Finally, the essay discusses two sanatoria in

8 Hugh D. Hudson Jr., Blueprints and Blood: The Stalinization of Soviet Architecture, 1917-
1937 (Princeton: Princeton University Press), 1994.




particular, one at Barviha near Moscow, and the other at Kislovodsk in the
Caucasus, inaugurated in 1933 and 1938 respectively, to show the informing

principles of Modernism built into their concept and realization.’

The Lenin Library Competition

Having replaced in 1928 Lenin’s NEP with central planning, Stalin
proceeded with efforts to bring the modernist movements of the previous decade
under control. '° Indeed, the intention was not so much to impose a particular style,
as it was to replace spontaneous architectural expression by the effective control of
the field. Preexisting structures were to be gradually infiltrated and reined in. By
1930, without renouncing modernity and modernization per se — a declared
ideological premise of the Revolution — Stalin’s ruling party was taking in its own
hands what, until then, had been primarily the realm of professionals. Instead of
independent initiative, direct and indirect dictates from the centers of power
defined everyday reality, draining the intellectual discourse of all substance.!!

Towards the end of the 1920s, the “nouveaux riches” of the NEP (the so-
called “Nepmen”) had been gaining influence on architecture in proportion with

their growing economic power. A telling example of the trend at the end of the

° The important campaign for the Moscow Metro and its significance for modern architecture is
not discussed here, as this has already been done in other studies, and in particular in Christian
Borngréber, “Constructivistes et académistes dans le Métro de Moscou au milieu au milieu des
années trente,” in J. L. Cohen, M. De Michelis, M. Tafuri, eds., URSS, 1917-1978. La ville,
Parchitecture (Paris/Roma: L’Equerre; Officina edizioni, 1979), pp. 300-16. See also Josette
Bouvard, Le Métro de Moscou, la construction d’un mythe soviétique (Paris: Edition du sextant,
2005).

19 Lenin introduced the New Economic Policies (NEP) at the end of the Civil War (1918-1921)
in an effort to revive production and consumption through a limited market economy.

' Hugh D. Hudson Jr., Blueprints and Blood: The Stalinization of Soviet Architecture, 1917-
1937 (Princeton: Princeton University Press), 1994.




NEP was Ivan Zoltovskij’s (1867-1959) GosBank in Moscow built in 1927.
Zoltovskij enjoyed the reputation of exceptional connoisseurship of the Italian
Renaissance: he implemented Andrea Palladio’s architecture in his own work.

By the early 1930s, however, the Nepmen’s place was taken over by a new
type of parvenus: the “professional revolutionaries,” meritorious apparatchiks and
decorated citizens populating the heights of Stalin’s ‘meritocratic’ world. Not
surprisingly, they were opting for conservative choices in architecture, analogous
to the Nepmen’s. As a result, at the turn of the decade, Soviet avant-garde
architects found themselves caught up between the “nouveau riches” NEP elite
they resisted since the mid 1920s and a rising new state-socialist middle class
favoring conservatism. What space, if any, was left to the Modernists?

In the Spring 1928, coinciding with the national competition for the Lenin

Library in Moscow, the avant-garde SA (Sovremenaja Arhitektura), the official

journal of the OSA, published a letter by a group of young architects from the
Ukrainian city of Harkov calling for help and support from the Moscow

Modernists. '?

12 The journal SA (Sovremenaja Arhitektura: “Contemporary Architecture”), was founded in
1926 by Ginzburg. He brought to SA’s editorial board some of the most important figures of the
architectural Avant-Garde, including the young Ivan Leonidov (1904-1957). Aleksej Gan,
staunchly dedicated to the new society, revolutionized typesetting and book layout with his
designs for SA.
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The group was fervently devoted to modern architecture, and was distressed at
what they perceived as mounting conservatism in their town, increasingly
dominated by pre-revolutionary architects who kept at bay the younger ones. In a
desperate attempt at breaking the grip of academic architecture that threatened to
monopolize the profession, they formed a group, the “Iniciativnaja Gruppa,” to
launch an organized resistance to the trend.

Their appeal fell on fertile ground. The group’s concerns were not only
shared by the leaders of Soviet modern architecture, but were dramatically
highlighted by the turbulent events related to the competition for the Lenin Library,
one of the most prestigious projects of the decade planned in the heart of Moscow,
across from the Kremlin walls.

The competition was juried by the MAO (Moskovskoe Arhitekturnoe

Obscestvo), a pre-revolutionary Moscow architectural society reinstated in 1923.
It was organized in two parts. The first part was open to the entire profession, the
other only to “invited” architects. Because of its conservative jury, the open contest
for the library attracted no more than ten entries. At the same time, the invited
architects, including the Vesnin brothers Aleksandr (1883-1959), Viktor (1882-
1950) and Leonid 1880-1933), who introduced Constructivism in architecture in
1922 with their Third Prize entry to the competition for the Palace of Labor, were
academic figures already well established under the Tsar. Out of four invited
teams, only one, the Vesnin team, had radically renounced their conservative pre-
1914 architecture. Besides the Vesnins, the invited teams were the conservative
engineer I1’ja Rerberg, already active in the previous century, and recently derided
in SA for his Post Office on Tverskaja Street (Maksim Gorkij after the writer’s
death, today again Tverskaja), two blocks from the Kremlin walls; the Ukrainian
Vladimir S¢uko (1879-1939); and the designer of the permanent Lenin mausoleum

Aleksej S¢usev (1873-1949), an architectural chameleon who was accused later in

13



the decade by the Secretary of the Union of architects, Karo Alabjan (1897-1959),
of having “an anti-Soviet way of looking at you.” '3

The new generation of young architects who grew out of the 1917
upheavals, were trained at the VHUTEMAS, one of the most innovative schools of
art and architecture in Europe that offered the students the possibility to choose
between the “masterskie” directed by artists and architects adhering to different
modernist orientations or to follow a traditional academic curriculum run by
established Classicists.'* The young Harkov architects, some probably trained at
the school, were outraged that the list of invited architects for the Lenin Library
competition failed to reflect the new forces in the field.! To resist countrywide
“reactionary” trends of this sort, the VHUTEIN’s “Scientific and Technical
Architectural Club” called for a public debate on its premises on Miasnitickaja
Street, in the vicinity of the designated building site for Le Corbusier’s
Centrosojuz, and, ironically, of a monumental post office building designed by the
Vesnin brothers before the revolution in a Byzantine style.

The public response to the call was overwhelming. Huge crowds of Moscow
students, professors and architects attended the meeting, turning it into a plebiscite
against the influence of “architects who were active before the revolution and who
belonged to aristocratic and bourgeois circles.” The speakers pointed out
sardonically that Soviet architecture seemed to be undergoing its own

“Renaissance” with projects and buildings flashing Palladian revivals.

13 Moscow RGALI archives: Party organization of the SSA — Sojuz Sovetskyh Arhitektorov:
All-Union of Soviet Architects.

4 The VHUTEMAS (Vysie HudoZestveno -Tehni¢eskie Masterskie — Higher Artistic and
Technical Workshops, was founded in 1919 by the People’s Commissariat for the Enlightenment
(NARKOMPROS) under the Commissar Anatoly Lunacharsky (1875-1933). By 1924 it trained
as many as 1500 students. The School was renamed VHUTEIN (Vyss$ij Hudozestveno-
Tehniceskij Institut — Higher Artistic and Technical Institute) towards the end of the 1920s.

15SA 2/1928



The debates ended with a unanimous resolution emphasizing the need for a
“systematic and relentless struggle” against what the assembly regarded as “the
indifference of the profession” to the actual conditions of the country. The

resolution stated emphatically:

“[We are]

AGAINST ignoring the new social and existential phenomena in
architecture,

AGAINST ignoring contemporary materials and constructive systems,
AGAINST going back to old forms of “national” architecture

AGAINST building in the “styles”

AGAINST an orientation towards “reactionary artistic old formulae
AGAINST the hegemony of the most reactionary architects in the provincial
cities and the republics of the union, i.e., where a struggle against the danger
from the right in architecture is indispensable.” 16

What worried the signatories of the document most was a “tendency,
increasingly evident in the whole country, towards a revival of the old forms of
‘national” architecture, and toward the reintroduction of the ‘styles.” Most
strikingly, the resolution of the assembly “[called] on the Party and other
organizations leading the Cultural Revolution to take an interest in the problems of
architecture, and to organize discussions on the contentious issue with a broad
participation of the party membership and the Soviet public opinion.” The
Resolution concluded that only one thing could solve the crisis according to the
protesters: to attract “young architectural forces that have grown and learned their

trade in a new revolutionary society.”!”

16 «“A Necessary Struggle: Protest Resolution on the VHUTEIN Dispute” published in
Sovremenaja Arhitektura (SA), 3, 1928.

17 See “Against “unprincipled eclecticism,” in SA 3, 1928, p. 92




The call for a Party intervention indicates how little aware many were, at
that point, and probably for a number of years ahead, about the actual nature of the
“Revolution from above.” The Bolshevik Party, and especially its Moscow branch,
a center of later resistance to Stalin, was still perceived in 1928 as inherently
progressive, ready to support the avant-garde. The “revolutionary” disguise of
Stalin’s pronouncements was able to electrify many, and even bring a sense of
vindication after years of perceived corruption by the despised “Nepmen.”

The resolution was published in the press. New protests flooded the editorial
board of the SA. “The immense majority of the architectural community had
already decried earlier the erection of the Central Telegraph by the engineer I. 1.

Rerberg — just two blocks from the Kremlin,” the journal reported.

Fig. 4 I Rerberg’s Post Office in SA, 2, 1928,
Caption: “How not to build” (Lenin Library)

Other critics chastised the Moscow Gosbank,
designed by Zoltovskij, and his passeistic
Palace of Friendship in Mahac¢-Kala. Yet
others attacked the Palace of the People, built

in a Byzantine style in Erevan, Armenia, as
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well as the Moresque style of the Baku train
station in Azerbaijan.

When the second part of the Library JWREMENNAL
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contest was completed, deaf to the protests,
the jury published its final verdict. The scandal was now complete. Not only had
the jury turned down the first prize winners of the previous round, the architectural

team of Daniil Fridman, Vladimir Fidman and Dmitrij Markov, with their elegant

16



modernist solution rendered in a striking blue monochrome,'® but out of the two
slightly modernized academic buildings it awarded the weaker one, designed by
S¢uko, a pre-revolutionary academic architect who belonged to the oldest of the

three generations that were competing for commissions at the end of the 1920s.

Fig. 5 S¢uko. Lenin Library, Entrance Hall. Competition Entry, 1928  (MuAr)

In the midst of the tumult filling the pages of the magazines, the Party daily
Pravda, the government daily Izvestija, and the communist youth paper

Komsomolskaja Pravda (none yet fully under Stalin’s control) assailed the jury for

selecting S¢uko. The criticism of the jury was now bolder than ever. Obviously

reflecting the Moscow Party Committee’s anti-Stalinist orientation, Stroitel’stvo

18 Stroitel’stvo Moskvy Nr. 6, 1928 p. 3
















































































































































































































